
  
TOWN OF THUNDERBOLT 

REGULAR MONTHLY MEETING 
WEDNESDAY, JUNE 14, 2023 

6:00 PM 
 
 
 
 
 
AGENDA HEARING 
 
Public has five minutes per person to ask questions or comment on any agenda item. 
 
 
MILLAGE PUBLIC HEARING (page 3 – 6) 
 
Public has five minutes per person to ask questions or comment on millage rate. 
 
 
REGULAR MEETING 
 
1. Call to order  

 
2. Roll Call by Presiding Officer with Invocation, followed by the Pledge of Allegiance  
 
3. Approval of Meeting Agenda  
 
4. Approval of Minutes from Previous Meeting:   page 7 - 13 

Minutes of May 10, 2023 and June 6, 2023 
 

5. Presentations: 
a) Alzheimer’s Awareness Month - Kristin Harkleroad  page 14  

 
6. Finance Report:       page 15 – 19  

a) Approval of the 2023 Asset Budget 
b) Approval of the 2023 SPLOST Budget 

 
7. Consent Agenda:       page 20 – 23  
 

a.) Approval to Renew Grand Life Massage Therapy’s Home Occupation Business License at 2501 Mechanics 
Ave.  

b.) Approval to Renew Masonry Masters LLC’s Home Occupation Business License at 302 Laurel Oak Ln. 
 
 
8. Discussion Agenda: 
 

a) Petitioner:  Travis Cormack      page 24 – 26  



Request:  Front Set Back Variance 
Parcel Involved:  30006 08021 
Location:  3217 Cedar St. 
P & Z approved unanimously 

 
b) Approval of the Outdoor Event Permit for Luminary Salon, 2819 River Dr. page 27 – 31 

 
c) Approval of the Police Department New Vehicle.    page 32 – 36 

 
d) Update on Fountain in Thomson Park. 

 
e) Update on Short Term Rentals.      page 37 

 
9. Department Report – Written Reports Submitted     page 38 – 54  
 

by:   Police / Municipal Court / Neighborhood Watch – Sean Clayton, Chief of Police 
Fire –Fire Chief, Andrew Bateman   
Public Works Department – Oscar Crosby, Public Works Manager 

   
10. Town Administrator Report: Town Administrator, Bob Milie   page 55 – 70  

a) 2023 Blessing of the Fleet Report 
b) Code Enforcement 

 
11. Legal Report – Town Attorney 
     
12. Mayor and Council  

 
13. Thunderbolt Museum 
 
14. Executive Session- Mayor requests a motion and a second to recess into executive session for the purpose of 

Legal, Real Estate and/or Personnel matters.   
 
15. Adjournment: 



2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
Real and Personal 105,270,684       108,924,386       108,985,429       114,034,656       131,425,316       147,732,489       
Motor Vehicles 1,238,330          1,019,580          817,620             638,830             529,290             560,070             
Mobile Homes 452,045             468,680             440,080             455,040             527,200             613,880             
Timber -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       
Heavy duty equipment -                       -                       2,735                -                       -                       9,676                
Gross Digest 106,961,059    110,412,646    110,245,864    115,128,526    132,481,806    148,916,115    

Less: M&O Exemptions (4,476,069)         (4,525,535)         (4,706,906)         (5,378,581)         (9,903,445)         (14,587,074)        
Net M&O Digest 102,484,990    105,887,111    105,538,958    109,749,945    122,578,361    134,329,041    

Gross M&O Millage 12.514               12.142               12.280               12.081               15.726               16.347               
Less: Rollbacks 6.148                5.994                6.132                5.949                9.594                10.495               
Net M&O Millage 6.366                6.148               6.148                6.132               6.132               5.852                
Net Taxes Levied 652,419           650,994           648,854           672,987           751,651           786,094           

Total Value 100,794,615    104,398,851    104,278,523    108,656,075    121,521,871    133,145,415    
Total Taxes Levied 619,685           641,844           639,436           666,279           745,172           779,167           
Net Taxes $ Increase (2,098)              22,159             (2,408)              24,133             78,664             34,443              
Net Taxes % Increase/(Decrease) 3.30% 3.40% -0.37% 3.72% 11.69% 4.58%

This tentative increase will result in a millage rate of 5.852 mills, an increase of .281 mills.  Without the tentative tax increase, the millage rate will be no 
more than 5.571 mills.  The proposed tax increase for a home with a fair market value of $100,000 is approximately $28, and the proposed tax increase for 
non-homestead property with a fair market value of $250,000 is approximately $70.

Deatre Denion , Clerk of Council, Town of Thunderbolt

CURRENT YEAR 2023 TAX DIGEST AND FIVE YEAR HISTORY OF LEVY

NOTICE                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               
Town of Thunderbolt in Chatham County, Georgia

The Town of Thunderbolt has tentatively adopted a millage rate which will require an increase in property taxes by 5.04% over the rollback rate.  Pursuant 
to requirements of the O.C.G.A. 48-5-32 does hereby publish the following presentation of the current year's digest and levy along with the history of the 
tax digest for the past five years.
All concerned citizens are invited to the public hearings on this tax increase to be held at the Town Hall Building, 2821 River Drive, Thunderbolt GA, on the 
following dates:

August 04, 2023 at 10:00 AM
August 04, 2023 at 6:00 PM
August 11, 2023, at 6:30 PM

3



2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
Real and Personal 105,270,684       108,924,386       108,985,429       114,034,656       131,425,316       147,732,489       
Motor Vehicles 1,238,330          1,019,580          817,620             638,830             529,290             560,070             
Mobile Homes 452,045             468,680             440,080             455,040             527,200             613,880             
Timber -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       
Heavy duty equipment -                       -                       2,735                -                       -                       9,676                
Gross Digest 106,961,059    110,412,646    110,245,864    115,128,526    132,481,806    148,916,115    

Less: M&O Exemptions (4,476,069)         (4,525,535)         (4,706,906)         (5,378,581)         (9,903,445)         (14,587,074)        
Net M&O Digest 102,484,990    105,887,111    105,538,958    109,749,945    122,578,361    134,329,041    

Gross M&O Millage 12.514               12.142               12.280               12.081               15.726               16.487               
Less: Rollbacks 6.148                5.994                6.132                5.949                9.594                10.495               
Net M&O Millage 6.366                6.148               6.148                6.132               6.132               5.992                
Net Taxes Levied 652,419           650,994           648,854           672,987           751,651           804,900           

Total Value 100,794,615    104,398,851    104,278,523    108,656,075    121,521,871    133,145,415    
Total Taxes Levied 619,685           641,844           639,436           666,279           745,172           797,807           
Net Taxes $ Increase (2,098)              22,159             (2,408)              24,133             78,664             53,249              
Net Taxes % Increase/(Decrease) 3.30% 3.40% -0.37% 3.72% 11.69% 7.08%

This tentative increase will result in a millage rate of 5.992 mills, an increase of .421 mills.  Without the tentative tax increase, the millage rate will be no 
more than 5.571 mills.  The proposed tax increase for a home with a fair market value of $100,000 is approximately $42, and the proposed tax increase for 
non-homestead property with a fair market value of $250,000 is approximately $105.

Deatre Denion , Clerk of Council, Town of Thunderbolt

CURRENT YEAR 2023 TAX DIGEST AND FIVE YEAR HISTORY OF LEVY

NOTICE                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               
Town of Thunderbolt in Chatham County, Georgia

The Town of Thunderbolt has tentatively adopted a millage rate which will require an increase in property taxes by 7.55% over the rollback rate.  Pursuant 
to requirements of the O.C.G.A. 48-5-32 does hereby publish the following presentation of the current year's digest and levy along with the history of the 
tax digest for the past five years.
All concerned citizens are invited to the public hearings on this tax increase to be held at the Town Hall Building, 2821 River Drive, Thunderbolt GA, on the 
following dates:

August 04, 2023 at 10:00 AM
August 04, 2023 at 6:00 PM
August 11, 2023, at 6:30 PM

4



2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
Real and Personal 105,270,684       108,924,386       108,985,429       114,034,656       131,425,316       147,732,489       
Motor Vehicles 1,238,330          1,019,580          817,620             638,830             529,290             560,070             
Mobile Homes 452,045             468,680             440,080             455,040             527,200             613,880             
Timber -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       
Heavy duty equipment -                       -                       2,735                -                       -                       9,676                
Gross Digest 106,961,059    110,412,646    110,245,864    115,128,526    132,481,806    148,916,115    

Less: M&O Exemptions (4,476,069)         (4,525,535)         (4,706,906)         (5,378,581)         (9,903,445)         (14,587,074)        
Net M&O Digest 102,484,990    105,887,111    105,538,958    109,749,945    122,578,361    134,329,041    

Gross M&O Millage 12.514               12.142               12.280               12.081               15.726               16.066               
Less: Rollbacks 6.148                5.994                6.132                5.949                9.594                10.495               
Net M&O Millage 6.366                6.148               6.148                6.132               6.132               5.571                
Net Taxes Levied 652,419           650,994           648,854           672,987           751,651           748,347           

Total Value 100,794,615    104,398,851    104,278,523    108,656,075    121,521,871    133,145,415    
Total Taxes Levied 619,685           641,844           639,436           666,279           745,172           741,753           
Net Taxes $ Increase (2,098)              22,159             (2,408)              24,133             78,664             (3,303)              
Net Taxes % Increase/(Decrease) 3.30% 3.40% -0.37% 3.72% 11.69% -0.44%

Deatre Denion , Clerk of Council, Town of Thunderbolt

CURRENT YEAR 2023 TAX DIGEST AND FIVE YEAR HISTORY OF LEVY

NOTICE                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               
Town of Thunderbolt in Chatham County, Georgia

The Mayor and Council of the Town of Thunderbolt do hereby announce that the millage rate will be set adopting the rollback rate at the June 14th, 2023 
Council meeting.  Pursuant to requirements of the O.C.G.A. 48-5-32 does hereby publish the following presentation of the current year's digest and levy 
along with the history of the tax digest for the past five years.
A public hearing to discuss the millage rate will be held at 6:30 PM, Wednesday June 14th, 2023 in the second floor council chambers, Thunderbolt Town 
Hall, 2821 River Drive, Thunderbolt, GA  31404.

5



2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
Real and Personal 105,270,684       108,924,386       108,985,429       114,034,656       131,425,316       147,732,489       
Motor Vehicles 1,238,330          1,019,580          817,620             638,830             529,290             560,070             
Mobile Homes 452,045             468,680             440,080             455,040             527,200             613,880             
Timber -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       
Heavy duty equipment -                       -                       2,735                -                       -                       9,676                
Gross Digest 106,961,059    110,412,646    110,245,864    115,128,526    132,481,806    148,916,115    

Less: M&O Exemptions (4,476,069)         (4,525,535)         (4,706,906)         (5,378,581)         (9,903,445)         (14,587,074)        
Net M&O Digest 102,484,990    105,887,111    105,538,958    109,749,945    122,578,361    134,329,041    

Gross M&O Millage 12.514               12.142               12.280               12.081               15.726               16.627               
Less: Rollbacks 6.148                5.994                6.132                5.949                9.594                10.495               
Net M&O Millage 6.366                6.148               6.148                6.132               6.132               6.132                
Net Taxes Levied 652,419           650,994           648,854           672,987           751,651           823,706           

Total Value 100,794,615    104,398,851    104,278,523    108,656,075    121,521,871    133,145,415    
Total Taxes Levied 619,685           641,844           639,436           666,279           745,172           816,448           
Net Taxes $ Increase (2,098)              22,159             (2,408)              24,133             78,664             72,055              
Net Taxes % Increase/(Decrease) 3.30% 3.40% -0.37% 3.72% 11.69% 9.59%

This tentative increase will result in a millage rate of 6.132 mills, an increase of .561 mills.  Without the tentative tax increase, the millage rate will be no 
more than 5.571 mills.  The proposed tax increase for a home with a fair market value of $100,000 is approximately $56, and the proposed tax increase for 
non-homestead property with a fair market value of $250,000 is approximately $140.

Deatre Denion , Clerk of Council, Town of Thunderbolt

CURRENT YEAR 2023 TAX DIGEST AND FIVE YEAR HISTORY OF LEVY

NOTICE                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               
Town of Thunderbolt in Chatham County, Georgia

The Town of Thunderbolt has tentatively adopted a millage rate which will require an increase in property taxes by 10.07% over the rollback rate.  Pursuant 
to requirements of the O.C.G.A. 48-5-32 does hereby publish the following presentation of the current year's digest and levy along with the history of the 
tax digest for the past five years.
All concerned citizens are invited to the public hearings on this tax increase to be held at the Town Hall Building, 2821 River Drive, Thunderbolt GA, on the 
following dates:

June 06, 2023 at 10:00 AM
June 06, 2023 at 6:30 PM
June 14, 2023, at 6:30 PM

6



  
TOWN OF THUNDERBOLT 

REGULAR MONTHLY MEETING 
WEDNESDAY, MAY 10, 2023 

6:00 PM 
REVISED 

 
 
 
 
AGENDA HEARING 
 
Public has five minutes per person to ask questions or comment on any agenda item. 
 
Mayor Williams called the public hearing to order at 6:01 pm. 
 
Council Member Drohan, speaking from the podium as a citizen, stated he has spoken with Sue DeRosa, Chair of the 
Tree Commission, concerning the fledgling Tree Commission.  He suggested possibly joining the Tree Commission 
with Conservation Citizens Committee.   
 
Council Member Drohan also spoke about fountain in the park.  He explained Thunderbolt has received statewide 
recognition for water conservation, composting and glass recycling.  As a citizen, he was concerned about maintaining 
the fountain as a fountain.  Having a fountain connected to potable water would be counterproductive to conservation.  
He suggested using a non-potable source, such as the shallow well planned for the park could be used for the fountain.   
 
Anne Maria Thomas, 1 Brightwater Dr, stated they could use the fountain for decorative without water, such as oyster 
shells and drift wood added.   
 
Mayor Williams asked Town Administrator Milie that he thought it was to be a self-contained water source.  Town 
Administrator Milie stated it would be. 
 
Council Member Ward stated the fountain has been fixed twice and still does not work.  Children have been seen 
playing with the plumbing.  He suggested using it as a garden. 
 
Council Member Barbaree asked, if possible, can we reduce the amount of water held and have fountain and garden. 
 
Sue Delarosa, 3215 Bannon Dr., stated she is not a fountain expert, but recommended contacting others for assistance 
on addressing some of the issues with the fix.  She mentioned the fountain in front of HomeGoods.  Mayor Williams 
stated it was not properly created and the fixes were band aids, not a proper fix.  Town Administrator Milie explained 
the fountain repair was a request from Council.  The bids we received may not be a permanent fix.  The park was 
designed to look nice not a play area for children, that is why there is no playground equipment. 
 
Ms. DeRosa continued, main issue for rain harvesting is the amount of water saved.  Anyone can implement this.  As 
for the Tree Commission, she stated she is the Chair and the only active member.  There was supposed to be 6 
members and they serve a 2-year terms.  One of those members is to be a Council Member. 
 
Town Administrator Milie provided an Administrator Report.  He stated he has reached back out to Denise Grabowski 
about the Shell Rd. project and waiting is for a response.  The town has passed the second stage of the community 
grant with Senator Warnock.  We put in for 12 million.  It is now down to an $8 million going into Congress.   7



 
Town Administrator Milie stated there will be another T-SPLOST vote this year.  Council Member Drohan spoke that 
no Council Member cannot tell anyone how to vote but can tell citizens the benefits to the Town. 
 
REGULAR MEETING 

 
1. Call to order  

 
Mayor Williams called the meeting to order 6:30 pm. 
 

2. Roll Call by Presiding Officer with Invocation, followed by the Pledge of Allegiance  
 
3. Those in attendance were Mayor Dana Williams and Council Members:  Dave Crenshaw, Larry Ward, Ed Drohan, 

James Lavin and Brooks Barbaree.   Staff in attendance were:  Town Administrator, Bob Milie; Town Attorney, 
Charlie Barrow; Clerk of Council, Deatre Denion; Police Chief, Sean Clayton, Fire Chief, Andrew Bateman and 
Utilities/Accounts Payable Manager, Katina Spaulding. 

 
Not in attendance were Council Member, Bethany Skipper-Greer and Public Works Director, Oscar Crosby  
 

4. Approval of Meeting Agenda  
 
Mayor Williams asked for a motion to approve the agenda.  Council Member Ward made the motion with a 
second from Council Member Crenshaw.  The motion passed unanimously 

 
5. Approval of Minutes from Previous Meeting: 

Minutes of April 12, 2023 
 

Mayor Williams asked for a motion to approve the April 12, 2023 meeting minutes.  Council Member Ward 
made the motion with a second from Council Member Crenshaw.  The motion passed unanimously. 

 
6. Presentations: 

 
a) Asian and Pacific Islander Recognition 

 
Mayor Williams presented a proclamation for Asian and Pacific Islander Recognition Month to Rev. Truc Phan. 
 

7. Finance Report: 
 

a) Approval of Budget Amendments for 2022 
 
Shannon Brett, Holland, Bromley, Barnhill & Brett LLP, provided a summary of the financial report provided 
to Council.  The April finances have been finalized.  Revenue was at $2.84 million, this is 32% of the annual 
budget.  The Town should be at 33%.  Expenditures were at 29% of the annual budget.  The Towns cash is 
earning interest of 4.5% in the GA Fund and 4.7% at United Bank.  Council Member Drohan asked how do we 
count the money on the interest on the cash.  Ms. Brett stated it goes into the General Fund balance with a 
different line item.  Town Administrator Milie stated it will be in next years budget since the Town never 
made money on their money.  Council Member Drohan stated this is not income for the long haul.  We need 
not to use this funding in a category to depend on the funding for the long haul. 
 
Town Administrator Milie spoke on the budget amendments for 2022 provided in the packet.  The General 
Fund was under budget over all.  This is just moving money between line items.  Council Member Crenshaw 
made motion to approve budget amendments with second from Council Member Ward.  The motion 
passed unanimously. 
 

8. Discussion Agenda: 
 

8



a) Approval of a Home Occupation Permit for Mz Alexiss Trucking LLC at 2827 Grant Street. 
 
Ms. Alexis was in attendance.  Mayor Williams asked if this was to be her hub.  She stated yes and there 
would be no advertisement.  Council Member Drohan asked about type of truck she will be using.  Ms. 
Alexis stated it will be a box truck and she hopes to move up to a semi but that is a year later.  She 
explained the truck will be parked on property.  She lives on a dead-end street and no one will be able to 
see the truck.  Council Member Ward made motion to approve the home occupation permit with 
second from Council Member Crenshaw.  The motion passed unanimously. 

 
b) Approval of Fountain Repair for Thomson Park. 

 
Mayor Williams asked for a motion to table this agenda item.  Council Member Drohan made the 
motion to table the agenda item with a second from Council Member Crenshaw.  Mayor Williams 
asked for discussion.  Council Member Drohan stated there has already been a discussion of options for 
the fountain and asked the mayor to create a committee to consolidate the options.  Council Member 
Drohan amended his motion to table until the next meeting for an update.  The motion passed 
unanimously. 
 

c) Discussion on Tree Commission Membership and Mission. 
 

Town Administrator Milie stated Council needs to decide if they still want a Tree Commission.  It is 
codified now but it can be changed.  Mayor Williams asked Town Administrator Milie to look into this 
and provide options.  Council Member Drohan asked Ms. DeRosa if she wants to help.  Town 
Administrator Milie stated he was going to ask for her input.  Council Member Crenshaw asked about 
when the Arborist would do inventory.  Town Administrator Milie stated that is the second phase of the 
current project to calculate tree canopy and viable planting locations.   
 

d) Discussion on Rain Harvesting in Thunderbolt. 
 

Mayor Williams stated several years ago someone came in to present on rain harvesting for the town.  
Town Administrator Millie stated it has not been at the top of the priority list.  Council has the ability 
move it up on the list.  Council Member Drohan stated Council has support the beautification and thinks 
this goes with the beautification mission.  Town Administrator Milie stated he would have someone 
provide options for rain harvesting on public property. 
 

9. Department Report – Written Reports Submitted 
 

by:   Police / Municipal Court / Neighborhood Watch – Sean Clayton, Chief of Police 
  
Council Member Drohan asked for Chief Clayton to speak on the video hearings and what infrastructure is 
needed.  Chief Clayton stated the only infrastructure needed is laptop and TMI cord.  Currently, officers must 
go and retrieve the prisoners and feed them.  This will stop the officers from going to get the inmate.  There is 
a risk of accidents.  This will keep officers here for security.  In the past, we have had some unruly inmates.  
Council Member Drohan asked if they are bound over do officers still have to take them to the County.  Chief 
Clayton stated no.  Council Member Drohan asked about traveling for the hearings to allow defendants out on 
bond.  Chief Clayton stated that is an arraignment hearing and the officer travels to them. 
 
Chief Clayton stated for the last two days officers have been out on the range and have all passed their firing 
test.  The CNT position has now been filled. 
 
Mayor Williams thanked Police and all staff for their participation for Earth Day/Arbor Day/Blessing of the 
Fleet events. 
 

Fire –Fire Chief, Andrew Bateman   
 

9



Chief Bateman had nothing additional to report.  Mayor Williams spoke of Chief Bateman handling of 
driving the float for the St. Patrick Parade.  He was extremely calm with all the chaos around him. 

 
Public Works Department – Oscar Crosby, Public Works Manager 

   
Public Works Director Crosby is in training at Jekyll Island.   
 

10. Town Administrator Report: Town Administrator, Bob Milie 
 
Town Administrator Milie stated Public Works Director Crosby has been working with John Sawyer, retired 
Water & Sewer Director from City of Savannah.  Mr. Sawyer helped the town piggyback with Savannah on having 
the town lines cameraed. 
 
Town Administrator Milie stated it is Public Sector Employees Week and praised the employees in Thunderbolt.  
He spoke of how far they have come since he was hired.  Mayor Williams dittoed the sentiment. 
 

11. Legal Report – Town Attorney 
 

No Report 
 

12. Mayor and Council  
 

Mayor thanked Emilie Bootsma for the use of the dock for Blessing of the Fleet. 
 
Ad Hoc Committee – Council Member Drohan stated the ad hoc committee has expanded its focus from salvaging 
the water & sewer infrastructure to include Water Conservation.  The billing has moved to actual cost of service 
and we are using water better.  Now the committee would like to work towards conservation friendly homes and 
businesses.  The committee would like to create a one year time frame to be certified in terms to conserve water.   
 
Council Member Drohan was happy with the glass recycling but would like to see more advertisement and have a 
sign with “Clean Glass Only” added.  He stated the Town should encourage restaurants to use the recycling bin.  
Council Member Drohan talked about the cost for disposal being based on weight.  If we can reduce weight we 
will pay less money for trash. 
 

13. Thunderbolt Museum 
 

Anna Maria Thomas updated council on the museum.  There will be a multi-vendor sale coming up.  It will only 
be on the side of the building, not closing the street.  There will be no sales June, July and August.  November will 
be the oyster roast and silent auction.   
 
Mrs. Thomas stated a vendor from the Blessing of the Fleet held a raffle and donated half the proceeds to the 
museum.  That raffle earned then $100.  Frank Hardaman donated stuff from his mother’s house.  Mrs. Thomas 
sold those items and made $600.   
 
Mayor Williams asked Anna Maria if she would chair the fountain committee.  She agreed. 
 
Mayor Williams asked for a moment of silence for Commissioner Rivers’ family. 
 

14. Executive Session- Mayor requests a motion and a second to recess into executive session for the purpose of 
Legal, Real Estate and/or Personnel matters.   

 
Mayor Williams asked for a motion to adjourn.  Council Member Drohan made the motion to adjourn with a 
second from Council Member Ward.  The motion passed unanimously.  

 
15. Adjournment:  

 
10



The meeting adjourned at 7:27 pm 

11



 

  
TOWN OF THUNDERBOLT 

SPECIAL CALLED MEETING 
WEDNESDAY, JUNE 6, 2023 

6:45 PM 
 
 
 
 
 
1. Call to order  
 

Mayor Williams called the meeting to order at 6:45 pm. 
 
Those in attendance were Mayor, Dana Williams, and Council Members:  Bethany 
Skipper-Greer, Dave Crenshaw, James Lavin and Brooks Barbaree.  Staff in attendance 
were Town Administrator, Bob Milie; Town Attorney, Charlie Barrow and Clerk of 
Council, Deatre Denion. 
 

2. Approval of Meeting Agenda  
 
Mayor Williams asked for a motion to approve the agenda.  Council Member Crenshaw 
made the motion with a second from Council Member Skipper-Greer.  The motion 
passed unanimously. 
 

3. First Reading of Chapters 1 – 4 of the Town Ordinances 
 

Town Administrator Milie explained this is a first reading.  He summarized the changes 
were made in each section.  Options for Ethics Board and Personnel Board were provided 
to Council.  Currently, there is a requirement in the ordinance of a four-person board.  No 
one is currently sitting on the boards.  Town Administrator Milie stated the suggestion is 
to have a three to five member board.  There needs to be independent counsel and training 
needs to be provided.  Council Member Crenshaw asked if the Ethics Board and 
Personnel Board could be one and the same.  Town Administrator Milie stated that is an 
option.  Council Member Lavin asked about the process.  Who picks these people?  From 
town or anywhere.  Town Administrator Milie explained the Council selects the members 
and currently from Thunderbolt.  It could be opened to outside for a specific skill set.  
Town Attorney Barrow stated the people on the ethics board may not be the people you 

12



 

want on the appeals board.  Council may not want not to harness the town to not having 
options for where the members live. 

 
Catherine Clements. 3224 Cedar St., stated you underestimate the citizens.  There are 
many individuals that wish to participate.   

 
Council Member Crenshaw stated we should have a board of 3 with alternates. 

 
Beth Goette, 3006 Leonard St., stated Council is making changes to something that is still 
not correct.  When she first was elected, she was provided a ringed binder with the 
ordinance.  When changes were made, they were provided the changes in hard copy to 
add to the binder.  The previous Town Clerk, without Council approval, switched to 
Municode and it has not been right since.  Town Attorney Barrow stated the Council 
voted on the Municode version making it the code of ordinances to be used.  Clerk of 
Council Denion explained since she came on board another version was reviewed and 
adopted. 

 
Jan Yarbrough, 24 Bonaventure Rd, stated section 2-102 g.  numbering is wrong.  She 
stated she would like to see the Board of Ethics be selected by Thunderbolt citizens.  In 9 
b 3.  She asked about the advertising mentioned in this section.  Town Attorney Barrow 
stated public input would be for the standard forms they will create.  She then asked about 
the fine that is not stricken from the ordinance.  Town Attorney Barrow stated local 
entities do not have the authority to fine individuals for ethics violations. She asked for 
clarification on the Town Administrator firing any staff member.  Town Administrator 
stated he has the authority, but the department heads are involved with the decision and to 
fire a department head council is to be notified.  She stated in 2-407 needs to have how 
often the appraisals are done.  She asked about the advertising in 2-410.  Town Attorney 
Barrow stated the meetings are open to the public but not the deliberation.  Lastly, she 
asked if there was any way to ensure from an environmental standpoint to ensure clean up 
without litigation.  Town Administrator Milie stated there was not. 

 
Council Barbaree stated the training for the board members needs to cover professional 
development items such as social media.   

 
4. Adjournment: 

 
Mayor Williams adjourned the meeting 8:04 pm. 

13



 
BY THE MAYOR OF THE TOWN OF THUNDERBOLT  

A PROCLAMATION 

“ALZHEIMER’S AWARENESS MONTH”  

WHEREAS, Alzheimer’s disease is an irreversible and progressive brain disease that slowly erodes 
precious memories, thinking skills and the ability to perform simple tasks; and 

WHEREAS, In the State of Georgia 150,000 people aged 65 and older are living with Alzheimer’s, 
343,000 family caregivers bear the burden of the disease, and the value of unpaid care is over $9.9 billion 
dollars.  

WHEREAS, Alzheimer’s is the 6th leading cause of death in the United States. Every 66 seconds, 
someone develops Alzheimer’s and by 2050 someone will develop the disease every 33 seconds; and 

WHEREAS,  During National Alzheimer’s Disease Awareness Month, we honor and support the 
millions of brave Americans who have been diagnosed with Alzheimer’s, along with the selfless family 
members and caregivers who stand by their sides throughout the long course of this heartbreaking 
disease; and  
 
WHEREAS, the Alzheimer’s Association is the world’s leading voluntary health organization in 
Alzheimer’s care, support and research, with the vision of a world without Alzheimer’s disease; and 

WHEREAS, Recognizing this month allows the Town of Thunderbolt to encourage their residents to stay 
informed, to seek out support, to advocate to those so affected, and to support research and awareness;  
 
NOW, THEREFORE, I, Dana Williams, Mayor of the Town of Thunderbolt, on behalf of the Town 
Council, do hereby proclaim the month of June 2023 in Thunderbolt as “Alzheimer’s Awareness 
Month”and urge all citizens, businesses, organizations, and agencies to work collaboratively to help 
spread awareness and give support to those in need.  

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have 
hereunto set my hand and caused the 
Seal of Thunderbolt to be affixed this 14 
day of June 2023. 

         ________________________________ 

Mayor Dana Williams 

Town of Thunderbolt 

14



Town of Thunderbolt
May 31, 2023

Line Item
 BUDGET FY 

2023  Amendment  
 Final 

Admendment  
 Amended 

Budget 2023 
Actuals Year 

to Date YTD %
REVENUES

Taxes 031 2,283,000        -                   -                   2,283,000        853,547          37%
Licenses and Permits 032 114,500           -                   -                   114,500           124,299          109%
Intergovernmental 033 30,000             -                   -                   30,000             33,063            110%
Charges for Services 034 56,124             -                   -                   56,124             68,785            123%
Fines & Forfeitures 035 146,750           -                   -                   146,750           49,569            34%
Miscellaneous 038 191,550           -                   -                   191,550           186,105          97%
Water/Sewer 400 2,035,000        -                   -                   2,035,000        825,784          41%
Solidwaste 540 297,000           -                   -                   297,000           124,137          42%
Other Income 038 500                  -                   -                   500                  13,137            2627%
SPLOST 320 -                   -                   -                   -                   299,567          100%
Hotel Motel Tax 275 -                   -                   -                   -                   4,472              100%

TOTAL REVENUES 5,154,424        -                   -                   5,154,424        2,582,466       50%

EXPENSES
Mayor And Council 130 32,775             -                   -                   32,775             13,887            42%
General Administrative 150 550,446           -                   -                   550,446           254,439          46%
General Govt Bldgs & Plant 156 95,000             -                   -                   95,000             24,831            26%
Police 300 778,279           -                   -                   778,279           324,882          42%
Municipal Court 265 160,503           -                   -                   160,503           52,118            32%
Fire 350 636,782           -                   -                   636,782           262,132          41%
Streets 400 389,839           -                   -                   389,839           85,957            22%
Senior Citizens 550 38,000             -                   -                   38,000             9,896              26%
Recreation 610 29,500             -                   -                   29,500             13,056            44%
Thunderbolt Museum 660 3,000               -                   -                   3,000               180                 6%
Zoning Board/Commission 741 7,800               -                   -                   7,800               3,542              45%
Capital Savings 100,000           -                   -                   100,000           -                 0%
Capital Expenses Dept 350 253,000           -                   -                   253,000           -                 0%
Water/Sewer 400 2,035,500        -                   -                   2,035,500        804,154          40%
Solidwaste 540 303,845           -                   -                   303,845           113,825          37%
SPLOST 320 -                   -                   -                   -                   4,969              100%

TOTAL EXPENSES 5,414,269        -                   -                   5,414,269        1,967,868       36%

(DEFICIT) SURPLUS (259,845)          (259,845)          614,598          



GEN Fund Revenue: 2,821,924$      ENT Fund Revenue: 2,332,500$       Town Revenue: 5,154,424$    

Expenses: G&A 550,446           Expenses Water/Sewer 2,035,500         
M&C 32,775             Solid Waste 303,845            
Gen Gov 95,000             
Police 778,279           Expenses Total: 2,339,345$       
Mun Crt. 160,503           
Fire 636,782           (6,845)$             
Streets 389,839           
Sen Cit 38,000             SPLOST Revenue -                    
Rec 29,500             Expenses -                    
Mus 3,000               
P&Z 7,800               Net -$                  
CAP SAV 100,000           

CAP EXP Expenses 253,000            
Expenses Total: 2,821,924$      (253,000)$         Total Expense 5,414,269$    

Net -$                 (Deficit) Surplus (259,845)$      

ACT vs BUD ACT vs BUD
GEN Fund Revenue: 1,315,368$      (1,506,556)$     ENT Fund Revenue: 963,059$          (1,369,441)$     Town Revenue: 2,582,466$    

Expenses: G&A 254,439           (296,007)          Expenses Water/Sewer 804,154            (1,231,346)       
M&C 13,887             (18,888)            SolidWaste 113,825            (190,020)          
Gen Gov 24,831             (70,169)            -                   
Police 324,882           (453,397)          Expenses Total: 917,979$          (1,421,366)$     
Mun Crt. 52,118             (108,385)          
Fire 262,132           (374,650)          Net ENT 45,079$            51,924$           
Streets 85,957             (303,882)          
Sen Cit 9,896               (28,104)            SPLOST Revenue 299,567            299,567           
Rec 13,056             (16,444)            Expenses 4,969                4,969               
Mus 180                  (389,659)          
P&Z 3,542               (34,458)            Hotel Motel Revenue 4,472                4,472               

CAP EXP Expenses -                    -                   

Expenses Total: 1,044,920$      (1,777,004)$     Net SPLOST & CAP & HM 299,070$          299,070$         Total Expense 1,967,868$    
Net General 270,449$         270,449$         614,598$          621,443$         (Deficit) Surplus 614,598$       

Bank Account
Beginning 
Balance YTD Cash IN YTD Cash OUT Ending Balance Net Change

General Fund 1,842,295$    3,708,768$      (4,741,111)$          809,952$          (1,032,343)$     
Water Sewer Fund 1,268,402      1,076,920        (658,582)               1,686,740         418,338           
Municipal Court 11,015           61,905             (59,047)                 13,872              2,857               
MC Cash Bond 25,933           731                  -                            26,664              731                  
Money Market Contingency 3,532,710      33,478             (2,500,000)            1,066,188         (2,466,522)       
Georgia Fund -                     3,527,670        -                            3,527,670         3,527,670        
SPLOST Capital Projects 1,473,200      299,567           (4,969)                   1,767,798         294,598           
Special Projects -                     -                       -                            -                        -                   
P.D. Asset 5,484             17                    -                            5,501                17                    
Speed Camera 24,310           37,698             -                            62,008              37,698             

8,183,348$    8,746,754$      -$                 (7,963,709)$          -$                8,966,393$       783,045$                            

2023 Budget:

2023 Actuals: (Cash Flow)

Town Of Thunderbolt Cash Status: May 2023



FY 2023 - Budget
Asset Forfeiture Fund

Account Balance $5,483.91

Revenue $14

Expenditure $0

Estimated Ending Balance $5,497.91

15



Type of Cost  Amount Awarded  Amount Received  Amount Spent Amount Remaining  Amount Available 
Town Water and Sewer System Improvements and Replacements 1,900,000$                 ‐$                    1,900,000$                   
Purchase or Replacement of Public Safety Vehicles, Equipment and Technology  350,162                       (157,196)            192,966                        
Road and Stormwater Drainage Improvements  100,000                       ‐                           100,000                        
Purchase or Replacement of Public Works Vehicles and Equipment 100,000                       ‐                           100,000                        
General Government Buildings and Equipment  90,000                         ‐                           90,000                           
Parks and Recreation Facilities and Equipment  75,000                         ‐                           75,000                           
Isle of Armstrong Fire Suppression 335,000                       ‐                           335,000                        
TOTAL 2,950,162$                 1,571,641$                 (157,196)$         2,792,966$                   1,414,446$                

FY 23 SPLOST Budget 
Balance  2,950,162
Amount Available  1,414,446
Estimated Revenue 838,452

Expenditures

Town Water and Sewer System Improvements and Replacements 561,480$                   
Forced Main Engineering ‐ desgin ‐ movement on planning ‐
 various smaller improvement valve projects ‐ replacement pipes as resurfacing

Purchase or Replacement of Public Safety Vehicles, Equipment and Technology 
Public Safety Radios ‐ MDT's ‐ PPE $192,966

Road & StormWater Drainage Projects  60,000
comfort for needs for improvement or increase capabilities

Purchase or Replacement of Public Works Vehicles and Equipment 100,000
Truck ‐ Equipment as needed

General Gov. Buildings & Equipment 90,000
Conf. Room ‐ Town Hall Improvement ‐ Pump House 

Parks & Rec. Facilities & Equipment  75,000
Towards Park Improvements

Islea of Armstrong Fire Suppression 335,000
Towards supression ‐ Tender if Grant is awarded

Town of Thunderbolt Capital Projects Priority List Allocation of SPLOST Funding SPLOST VII

16



Possible Budget Expenditures as approved by Council 1,414,446

17



18



19



20



21



22



23



24



25



26



27



28



29



30



�, 
Date: 5/15/2023 

Salesperson: Wade Dial
-:-:-:-----:---=:-:---------

Manager: Wade Dial 
------------

FOR INTERNAL USE ONLY 

rroMER TOWN OF THUNDERBOLT 
2821 RIVER DR 

Address: THUNDERBOLT. GA 31404 
CHATHAM 

rE-Mail: SCLAYTON@THUNDERBOLTGA.ORG 

ICLf 
Stock#: DURANGO New/ Used : New 

�ide : 2023 Dodge Durango 
Type : Pursuit 4dr Alt-Wheel Drive

; Size : Style :

Market Value Selling Price 
Discount 

Adjusted Price 

Cash Deposit 

Balance 

VIN: 
Color: 

Home Phone: (912) 354-5533

Work Phone: 

Ce" Phone: 

Weight :0 

Mileage:O 

Unit Class; 

49,270.00 

2,270.00 

47,000.00 

.00 

47,000.00 

ir ApprOWI: -.--,,�---=,....,.,..-.-,,------,,-:-:--.,.,..-� Management Approval;
I� this aulhorization form, you certify that lhe aboYe � information is correct and accurate. and authorize the release of credit and employmenl 
an. By signing above, I provide lo the deale and its affiliates consent to communicate with me about my vehJcle or any future vehldes using electronic 
id wrftlBn communications Including bur not limlted to eMaB, teX1 messag ng, SMS, phone calls and direct mall. Terms and Conditions subied to aedll a 
nallon Only. This is not an offer« contract for sale. 

31



Prepared for: Mr. Sean Clayton 
Chief, Thunderbolt --
Prepared by: Ocie Welch Ill 0. C. Welch Ford I 4920 Independence Boulevard Hardeeville South Carolina I

03/24/2023 

2023 Police Interceptor Utility AWD Base (K8A) 

Price Level: 315 I Stock No: 00T32862 I VIN: 1 FM5K8AC8PGA32862 I Quote ID: seank8a 

Pricing Summary - Single Vehicle 

Vehicle Pricing 

Base Vehicle Price 

Options 

Colors 

Upfitting 

Fleet Discount 

Fuel Charge 

Destination Charge 

Subtotal 

Pre-Tax Adjustments 

Code 

sean 

Total 

Customer Signature 

Description 

sean 

299274334 

MSRP 

$47,165.00 

$1,985.00 

$0.00 

$0.00 

$0.00 

$0.00 

$1,495.00 

$50,645.00 

MSRP 

� 

Acceptance Date 

Prices and content availability as shown are subject to change and should be treated as estimates only. Actual base vehicle, package and option pricing 

may vary from this estimate because of special local pricing, availability or pricing adjustments not reflected in the dealer's computer system. See 

salesperson for the most current information. 

22 

32



33



34



2821 RIVER DRIVE, THUNDERBOLT, GA  31404-1524 – PHONE (912)354-5533 – FAX (912) 354-2038 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
To: Mayor and Council 
 
From: Deatre N. Denion 
 
Date: June 9, 2023 
 
Re: Short Term Rentals (STR) 
 
Currently, the Town has hit the 70 STR limit.  They do very in location around town, but their 
does seem to be some grouping on Bannon Dr., Whatley and Mechanics Ave.  The host compliant 
system shows there are six more listings that have not submitted applications.  The process has 
begun to have them cease STR activity.  A wait list has been started and currently, there are eight 
applications for the wait list. 

35



INTER OFFICE CORRESPONDENCE 
 
 
TO:  Town Administrator, Robert Milie 
   
FROM:        Chief Sean Clayton 
   
DATE: June 1, 2023 
 
SUBJECT: Monthly Report for May 2023 
 
 
 
 
POLICE DEPARTMENT: 
 
On May 25th we had our first video arraignment for court, and it went very well for our 
first time.  Our Clerk of Court Julie, and Lieutenant Runyon were the ones who put this 
new process into action and I couldn’t be prouder of the job they did. 
 
During a traffic stop for a minor traffic infraction, our officers smelled the odor of 
marijuana coming from inside of the vehicle.  Upon further investigation, nearly one 
pound of compressed marijuana was found, along with a loaded firearm, both of which 
were located inside of the vehicle.  The driver of that vehicle was taken into custody for 
felony charges. 
 
All officers have completed their annual firearms qualifications on both primary and 
rifle or shotgun.  I also, had Lt. Runyon qualify on the Bean Bag round which is just 
one more less lethal option that we now have at our dispense.   
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

36



DEPARTMENT MONTHLY ACTIVITY REPORT 
 
 

INCIDENT REPORTS      32 
 
ACCIDENT REPORTS       7 
 
MISC. REPORTS        2 
 
DOMESTIC VIOLENCE CASES                     1 
 
D.U.I. ARRESTS        1 
 
PERSONS ARRESTED       7  
 
TRAFFIC CITATIONS       74 
 
WRITTEN WARNINGS                 31 
 
ANIMAL COMPLAINTS       1 
 
 
 
 
 

2022/2023 Monthly Comparison 

 Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Yearly 

Classification of  
Offenses 22 23 22 23 22 23 22 23 22 23 22 23 22 23 22 23 22 23 22 23 22 23 22 23 2022 2023 

Homicide 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Sexual Assault 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 

Robbery 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 

Agg Assault 0 2 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 4 2 

Simple Assault 0 0 2 0 0 0 1 0 2 1 2 0 2 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 11 1 

Burglary 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6 0 

Larceny-Theft 1 3 1 1 2 12 9 1 9 5 4 0 6 0 1 0 4 0 0 0 4 0 4 0 45 22 

Auto Theft 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 1 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 6 1 

 3 5 4 1 3 12 10 2 14 6 7 0 16 0 4 0 7 0 1 0 4 0 6 0 79 26 

 
 
 

MUNICIPAL COURT 
 
The fees and fines the Court collected for the month of May were $12,706.00       
 
 

37



  

 

 

 

MAYOR AND COUNCIL REPORT 
May 2023 Report 

 
 
 

Mission Statement 
 

"The mission of the Thunderbolt Fire 
Department is to minimize loss of life, 

property and environment in the Town of 
Thunderbolt from both natural and man-

made disasters, life threatening situations 
and to assist other emergency agencies. 

We will achieve this mission through 
professional/progressive training and fire 

education while providing first class 
services to our community." 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Prepared by: 
Andrew Bateman 
Chief of Thunderbolt Fire Department 

 

38



1 
 

 

 

Thunderbolt Fire Incident Breakdown 

 

JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN JUL AUG SEPT OCT NOV DEC YTD 
Fire Response 11 10 11 7 5 44
EMS Response 24 22 24 29 39 138

  Grand Total 35 32 35 36 44 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 182  
 

Call Comparison Between 2022 & 2023 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

2022 2023

January February March April May June July August September October November December

0
5

10

Average Response Time

Average Response Time

39



2 
 

 

 

Department News 

 

Highlighted Projects: 
 

• Gary Sinise Grant – Still Waiting on Outcome of Grant 
• Continued to work with Admin Staff and Fire staff for Fire Coverage of Filming 

productions. 
• Worked with Eric Fournier (IT) with the setting up of new phones and new computers at 

Station.  
• Staff installed several Smoke Alarms though out the Town. 

o American Red Cross delivered additional alarms to Fire Department for installs. 
• Staff assisted DPW with some pipe work. 
• Added additional beds to station for staff (Originally 2 now have 4) 

o This allows for staff to have a place to sleep during storms are any other 
upstaffing situation. 

• The generator for Station had a few issues, with assistance from DPW problem was 
quickly mitigated by vendor. Unit is back in operation. 

 
Chief Report: 
 

• Georgia Firefighter Standards and Training (State) Conducted audit of the following 
items and Department passed with no issues. 

o Current Workers Comp Plan 
o Current Cancer Policy 
o 2022 Training Records 
o Pump Test Records for apparatus 
o NFIRS 
o Checked to ensure Proper Equipment was on Apparatus. 

 
• Continue to attend meetings to work on the new CAD (Computer-Aided Dispatch) 

System. 
• Engine 51 was involved in a vehicle accident. At fault individual was sighted for accident, 

no staff was injured or at fault for accident. Very minor damage noted to Engine 51 
(1998 Ferrara Apparatus). 

• Senior Center 
o Corrected all Life Safety Concerns the Fire Marshal noted. 
o Working with River Service for inspection on hood system. 

 
40



3 
 

 
 

o Fire Marshal will be contacted once the Hood System has been inspected to give 
an all-clear report. 
 

• Safe Kids 
o Meet with Jenna Morris and Elizabeth Rhoades with FD Staff to redo Boat Ramp 

Life Jacket Stand. (New Paint, Roof, Hooks, Sign, and new life jackets. 
 
 
 

Thunderbolt Fire Department  
Training May 

 
 
 
 
Online Training: 8 Hours 
Company Training: 20.66 Hours 
Outside Training:  0 Hour 
 
YTD 2023 Hours:  203.57 Hours 

41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52



 
 
To Be on May Agenda 

• Alzheimer’s Awareness Month Proclamation 
• SPLOST Budget & Resolution 
• Asset Revenue Budget & Resolution  
• Blessing of the Fleet Presentation – Marianne Ganem-Popell 
• Event Permit Request – Luminary Salon 
• PD Vehicle 
• FD Report 
• PD Report 
• DPW Report 
• Admin. Report 
• Finance Report - forthcoming 

 
 
 
Around Town  

● Re-paving – Rowland an Tuberson are forthcoming hopefully first part of 2023 – 
delay currently out to re-bid – going this route allowed us to get two roads re-
paved for approximately - $7,000 more than the estimate to do one road at the 
non-county rate  

●    Discussion for town wide road evaluation/ assessment 
○  Will help with 2,5,10 plan 
○ Contact: IMS Daniel Write – Re-evaluating the desire to go out to bid or 

go in with another municipality to obtain the same price as county on road 
rating 

○ Second phase of evaluation of cost effectiveness of attaching to the 
County Contract for pricing prior to moving toward an RFP 

●   Honey Park Beautification 
○  Entering Phase 4 of Design for computer aided graphics 

●  Thomson Park Beautification 
○ Need quote from GA power to bury power line  

■ Quote received - want to ensure the best location to be buried 
○ Tompson Park Fountain 

■ have met with Ms. Anna Maria received her ideas, thoughts, and 
designs, have secured a landscape architect to come up with 
various options with pictures to present to council after review 
etc… 

53



 
○ Well: Bob Myrick (Myrick Marine) 
○ Under Upper Deck Fence 

●  Safe & Tidy Update 

● Phone system modification underway at Town buildings – upgrade system and 
one vendor for faster speed – enhanced service and at a lower cost – some 
hiccups will occur regarding transfers and routing temporarily while the system is 
placed in service – completed – a few bugs being worked out nothing major   

● Code Enforcement – around Town various matters moving to court and in 
process of compliance – larger more derelict issues 

 
Grants  
 

● LMIG 2023 (Awarded: 02-09-2023) 
○ Road Repair - Macceo Drive from the Dock to Brightwater Dr. w/ 

Engineering 
● GA Forestry Commission Technical Support Grant (Awarded: 01-23-2023) 

○ First Workshop begins late April to be completed by beginning of October 
○ Tree Canopy/ Survey mapping needs 
○ Strategic Plan Development - 4/17/23 - GIS - workshop opening for year  

● AFG (Submitted: 02/10/2023) 
○ Fire Department PPE & Tender for areas without hydrants  

● Chatham County Blueprint (Submitted) 
○   Senior Center - submitted based on last year successful submission and 

we will continue to work the process with SCI and the County during the 
awards process 

● State Fiscal Relief/ ARPA (Due 04/15/2023) 
○  Force Main  

● LMIG 2024 (Begin Submission July 2023) 
● Sidewalk Grant (NOFO to open late April 2023)  
● FD Submitted for 2 grants Radios  
● PD submitted for one grant – Radios 

● Entering Second phase of Senator Warnock community grant – awaiting word if it 
is going to be moved as fully or partially funded – if secured via the senate – it 

54

https://docs.google.com/spreadsheets/d/1svyQd9Uv_3ySPp6aThLoJ9cLVAqE9ilUN7ExeYLGMR0/edit?usp=sharing
https://docs.google.com/spreadsheets/d/1svyQd9Uv_3ySPp6aThLoJ9cLVAqE9ilUN7ExeYLGMR0/edit?usp=sharing


 
will move to a resolution to Congress- no movement since last meeting other 
than an in person meeting with the Senator Chief of Staff as a follow up 

● Shell Rd. – Denise Grawbowski follow up and options and presentation is in 
process 

● Planning & Zoning – Process modifications – review and in house modifications 
to submissions -RDD response 

● T-SPLOST is being reconsidered for the ballot referendum possibly next year  

Banking and possible increase in revenue  

 SPLOST – Money Market 

 General Fund Sweep 

 Enterprise Fund Sweep 

 

 

Town Departments 

● Finance  
● TA 

○ Tax Commissioner Update 
● Police  
● Fire  
● Public Works  

○ Shell Road Valve Update  

 

 

55



Income Estimated Actual

Sponsorships $20,520.00 

Vendor Fees $6,200.00 

Raffle

Merch Sales $4,040.00 Day of sales only

Beer Sales $5,040.00 

Total Income $35,800.00 

Expenses

Stage/Sound Rental ($3,959.00) JK Productions

Live Radio Broadcast $ - in kind John Marshall, 106.1

Digital TV/Radio Ads $ - in kind WJCL, 106.1

Photography ($900.00) Bunny Ware

Trolley Rental $ - in kind Tipsy Turtle Bus

Event Signage/Flyers $ - in kind Creative Approach

Permit Applications $ -

Restrooms $ - in kind Royal Restrooms

Trash $ - in kind Atlantic Waste

Tents/Tables/Chairs ($801.00) Party in a Tent

Medical Tent $ - in kind

Thunderbolt Fire 

Department

Website ($2,500.00) Sean Murphy

Shirts ($8,686.00) Swag Tees

Merch ($2,392.00) Logo Goods

Bishop Donation

Bishop Parkes, 

Diocese of Savannah

Nonprofit Donation ($700.00) Alee Shriners Hospital

56



Golf Cart Rental $ - in kind Thunderbolt Marine

Beer ($1,588.00) Johnnie Ganems

Ice $ - in kind The Ice House

Entertainment ($2,600.00)

Insurance $ -

Event Security

Simply Savannah Marketing ($20,000.00)

T Shirt Competition ($250.00)

Boat Decor Competition $ -

Parking ($30.00) Johnson High School

Total Expenses ($44,406.00)

Net ($8,606.00)

57



May 28, 2022
SATURDAY, APRIL 29, 2023
RIVER DRIVE, THUNDERBOLT, GA

58



Overview
Goal: The Blessing of the Fleet festival aims to be THE annual Thunderbolt 
community-unifying event of the year..

The festival kicks off with a lively parade and is followed by continuous live stage 
entertainment, an array of vendors, beer garden, food trucks, activities for kids, raffle 
prizes, and of course, the blessing.

59



Day-of Timeline
Event Time

Vendor Arrival/ Set-Up
8:00 AM - 10:00 
AM

Parade 11:00 AM
Invocation & Welcome 11:30 AM
Start of the Festival 11:30 AM
Boat Parade 1:00 PM
Blessing of the Fleet 1:30 PM
Vendor Breakdown 4:00 PM - 5:00 PM

60



89 Vendors & Food Trucks
In a survey sent to our vendors, the 
majority reported high profitability, 
satisfaction, and plan to return next 

year.

Profitability Satisfaction Plan to Return

88% 91% 94%

61



Vendor Feedback

Via survey sent to attendees

⚓ It was well organized, very well publicized and well attended.

⚓ Enjoyed the sense of community.

⚓ Loved the atmosphere, view, other vendors and how organized 
i  it was.

⚓ All the fabulous people that came out, the parade, easy load-in and out, good advertising/ 
marketing and communication.

⚓ It was a wonderful day of fellowship with Town and City leaders and it was a great opportunity 
to showcase our service in the community.

⚓ To be honest it was one of the best events I’ve attended. The profit was average but the 
environment made it fun to be there.

62



Website and Social Media
botfga.com

Year Users Sessions Page Views

2022 2,025 2,703 3,204

2023 3,696
(+83%)

4,744
(+76%)

5,636
(+76%)

BotF Facebook Page

Year Page Reach Post Reach Impression
s

2022 22,926 10.2K n/a

2023 65,327
(+185%)

28.8K
(+182%)

89,061

Via survey sent to attendees

Year Page Visits
Post 

Engagemen
t

Page 
Followers

2022 1,188 1.4K 574

2023 4,987 
(+320%)

2.4K
(+71%)

878
(+53%)

63



Media Coverage
• Extensive media coverage across all local networks

• Airing PSA’s, interviews before. Pre-packaged stories after.
• WJCL, WSAV, WTGS, WTOC

• Continuous radio coverage from 106.1 The Rock
• Radio personality John Marshall continuously promoted 

the event, prior to the day, through social 
media and live on-air announcements

• 6 live radio cut-ins during the event as well as multiple 
Facebook live interviews w/ vendors and 

attendees

• Savannah Master Calendar
• Savannah Morning News
• Savannah CEO daily newsletter
• Savannah Business Journal
• Connect Savannah 64



Key Successes
• Town’s excitement leading up to the event
• Far exceeded anticipated attendance goal, ~ 5,000 attendees
• Positive attendee feedback in person and via online survey

• 100% of survey respondents said they would return next year

• Doubled parade participants
• Non-profit involvement

• Desire for shrimp boat participation
• Appreciated all the additional signage
• More favorable start time than 2022
• Variety of food trucks - preference for spread throughout vs. in one 

area
• Requests for more food trucks
• Great atmosphere, layout and variety of vendors
• A majority reported learning about the event via local signage/ social 

media, or through the Town newsletter/ water bill

Attendees’surveyed feedback takeaways:

65



2023 
Event Expansion

⚓ Branded “Welcome Tent”

⚓ Live music at entrance and at main 
stage throughout the day

⚓ Detailed printed and clickable 
Google map

⚓ Provided more activities for kids

⚓ Non-profit donation

⚓ Central “base camp” for volunteers

⚓ T-shirt design contest

⚓ Royal Restrooms

⚓ Continuous live radio and social 
media coverage

⚓ Grew from 34 → 89 vendors66



• Request for handicapped 
restrooms

• Restroom placement
• Beer ticket sales
• Shirt sales
• Earlier arrival for food trucks to get 

into place
• Location and timeline of getting 

street banners hung
• Shrimp boat involvement

Lessons Learned

67



We are already excited about the 2024 Blessing of the 
Fleet and look forward to partnering with the Town of 
Thunderbolt again, as we continue to grow and develop 
this legacy tradition!!

All h    B  W

THANK YOU!

68


	2023 Assest Budget (1).pdf
	Sheet1

	TB Millage Rate for Newspaper - 50%.pdf
	2023-24 Ad

	TB Millage Rate for Newspaper - 75%.pdf
	2023-24 Ad

	TB Millage Rate for Newspaper - Rollback (3).pdf
	2023-24 Ad

	TB Millage Rate for Newspaper Same Millage (1).pdf
	2023-24 Ad

	BOTF 2023 Budget.pdf
	Sheet1

	Blessing of the Fleet Presentation 2023.pdf
	SATURDAY, APRIL 29, 2023RIVER DRIVE, THUNDERBOLT, GA
	Overview
	Day-of Timeline
	89 Vendors & Food Trucks
	Vendor Feedback
	Website and Social Media
	Media Coverage
	Key Successes
	2023 Event Expansion
	Lessons Learned
	�We are already excited about the 2024 Blessing of the Fleet and look forward to partnering with the Town of Thunderbolt again, as we continue to grow and develop this legacy tradition!!��������All photos courtesy of Bunny Ware

	May 2023 Executive Summary.pdf
	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

	May 2023 High Level.pdf
	HIGH LEVEL




